RECEIVED

Jan 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
William C. McMaster III, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001203
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2023-CP-23-00189

Icon Custom Masonry, Inc., Respondent,

v.

The Settlement, LLC; Levi Grantham, LLC; and Atlantic Specialty Insurance Company,
Defendants,

Of which The Settlement, LLC and Levi Grantham, LLC are the Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s/ Taylor B. Ambrosius

James A. Bruorton, IV (SC Bar # 71300)

Taylor B. Ambrosius (SC Bar # 105933)

ROSEN HAGOOD, LLC

40 Calhoun Street, Suite 450

Charleston, SC 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in failing to vacate the arbitration award where the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by including amounts attributable to the mechanic's lien cause of action that are not lienable under South Carolina law?
2. Did the circuit court err in failing to vacate the arbitration award where the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by applying the incorrect mechanic's lien statute, resulting in a misidentification of the prevailing party and an improper denial of Appellants' entitlement to attorney's fees and costs?
3. Did the circuit court err in failing to vacate the arbitration award where the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by failing to consider and document the *Jackson* factors in awarding Respondent attorney's fees?
4. Did the circuit court err in failing to vacate the arbitration award where the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by failing to properly consider customary legal fees in awarding Respondent attorney's fees?
5. Did the circuit court err in failing to vacate the arbitration award where the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by awarding Respondent attorney's fees that were not actually incurred or paid?
6. Did the circuit court err in failing to modify the arbitration award where the Arbitrator miscalculated the final award by assessing damages based on the full contract price rather than the value of work actually completed, thereby incorrectly designating Respondent as the prevailing party under the mechanic's lien statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the order of the Honorable William C. McMaster, III, granting Respondent Icon Custom Masonry, Inc.'s ("Icon" or "Respondent") Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award, and denying Appellants The Settlement, LLC ("The Settlement") and Levi Grantham, LLC's ("Levi Grantham") (collectively "Appellants"), Motion to Vacate, or in the Alternative, Modify or Correct Arbitration Award.

This matter concerns a contract dispute between Icon and Levi Grantham for construction work at a development known as The Settlement in Simpsonville, South Carolina, owned by Appellant, The Settlement, at all times relevant hereto. (R. pp. 21, ¶ 6; R. pp. 67). Specifically, Levi Grantham contracted with Icon to construct five wayfinding monument columns at a price of \$29,850.00 each, plus additional related charges. (R. pp. 67). However, disputes emerged regarding the agreed-upon costs, the percentage of work completed, and the legitimacy of Icon's billing. (*Id.*) Consequently, and as permitted by the contract, Levi Grantham withheld payment for incomplete work. (R. pp. 68). In September 2022, Icon abandoned the project after partially completing work on only four columns. (*Id.*) Levi Grantham had no choice but to subsequently hire third-party contractors to complete the fourth column. (*Id.*) Notably, the fifth column was never constructed. (*Id.*; R. pp. 85).

As a result of nonpayment, Icon filed a mechanic's lien on the property in the amount of One Hundred Fifty-Three Thousand, Four Hundred Forty-Five and no/100 Dollars (\$153,445.00). (R. pp. 26-32). The Settlement, as the owner of the development, recorded a Surety Bond in the amount of Two Hundred Four Thousand, Five Hundred Forty-Two and 19/100 Dollars (\$204,542.19). (R. pp. 47, ¶ 36). Icon proceeded to file this lawsuit on January 17, 2023, bringing the following causes of action: (1) Breach of Contract, (2) Quantum Meruit, (3) Violation of S.C.

Code Ann. § 27-1-15, and (4) Action for Mechanic's Lien Foreclosure. *See generally* (R. pp. 20-25). The lawsuit was ultimately stayed and compelled into arbitration on December 20, 2023. (R. pp. 1-7).

During arbitration, Icon contended it was owed \$153,445.00 for the work performed, which included \$116,437.50 for 75% completion of the monument columns, \$25,507.50 for materials stored offsite, and \$11,500.00 for engineering fees, permitting service fees, and permitting allowance fees for the barn structure. (R. pp. 68). Appellants challenged Icon's claims on the basis that Icon had neither completed the work as billed nor conferred the claimed benefits. (*Id.*)

On December 20, 2024, the Arbitrator issued an Interim Award in the amount of \$119,400.00. (R. pp. 87). In calculating this amount, the Arbitrator found Levi Grantham had agreed to pay Icon \$29,850.00 per monument and had approved the addition of permitting and engineering fees to the contract, bringing the total contract amount to \$152,250.00 for five columns. (R. pp. 85). It was undisputed that Icon performed work to only four of the wayfinding monument columns. (R. pp. 86). Further, the parties agreed that only 75% to 80% of the work on those four columns was completed. (*Id.*) The Arbitrator determined that Icon was entitled to payment for the work performed based on the accepted contract price, valuing the work on the four monuments at \$119,400.00 by multiplying the per-column price of \$29,850.00 by four. (R. pp. 87). In considering the costs that Levi Grantham incurred in having a third-party contractor complete the fourth column, the Arbitrator deducted \$12,242.96 from the \$119,400.00, resulting in a \$107,157.04 being awarded to Icon for its "benefit of the bargain." (*Id.*)

Notably, the Arbitrator also awarded Icon compensation for work and materials related to the unbuilt fifth monument, explaining, "[Icon] had performed all permitting and engineering for all five monuments, which was valued at \$3,000 in the agreement, and had placed materials on

site for the fifth monument valued at \$4,000.00.” (*Id.*) The Arbitrator awarded Icon an additional \$7,000.00 for this work, bringing the total amount awarded in the Interim Award to \$114,157.04. (*Id.*) Critically, the fifth column was never constructed, meaning the materials that were intended for the fifth column and allegedly delivered to the site were never used or incorporated into the property. (R. pp. 69).

Appellants subsequently filed a Motion for Clarification/Modification in the Arbitration, arguing, among other things, that the damages awarded under the mechanic’s lien cause of action improperly included non-lienable materials for the fifth column, and therefore, the awarded amount under the mechanic’s lien cause of action should have been reduced accordingly. (*Id.*) In response, the Arbitrator issued an Order stating Icon “provided labor and materials to obtain permitting and engineering for five monuments [valued at \$3,000.00]. This work was necessary for the installation of the monuments and was therefore “labor and materials” used for the improvement of the owner’s property. . . . Some materials [in the amount of \$4,000.00] for the fifth monument were delivered to the site and while those materials were eventually not used for the fifth column; when provided, those materials were delivered to the site for the improvement of the owner’s property and were therefore ‘lienable’.” (R. pp. 90). The Arbitrator emphasized that only materials delivered to the site were included in the Interim Award. (R. pp. 91).

However, prior to the Interim Award and ruling on Appellants’ Motion for Clarification/Modification in the Arbitration, the parties each filed their Offer of Settlement in the Circuit Court action. *See* (R. pp. 95-97). Specifically, on November 6, 2024, Icon made an Offer of Settlement in the amount of \$127,750.00, citing solely to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(b). (R. pp. 95). Appellants thereafter filed their Offer of Settlement in the amount of \$90,000.00 on November 13, 2024, citing to both S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(b) and S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20(c). (R. pp. 96-

97). After the issuance of the Interim Award and subsequent ruling on Appellants' Motion for Clarification/Modification, the parties submitted their positions on who should be the prevailing party under the applicable mechanic's lien statute. (R. pp. 70).

In their brief, Appellants argued Icon was not the prevailing party because its Offer of Settlement filed with the Circuit Court was made under the incorrect mechanic's lien statute, and given that strict compliance with the mechanic's lien statute is required, Icon's citation to the incorrect statute rendered its Offer of Settlement invalid, making the full amount prayed for in the complaint, \$153,445.00, the operative figure, rather than the \$127,750.00 stated in its defective offer. (*Id.*) As a result, Appellants argued that since the award was \$114,157.04, and their offer of settlement was \$90,000.00, they were closer to the award and thus the prevailing party under the statute. (*Id.*) The Arbitrator ultimately rejected this argument via its Order on Prevailing Party filed February 3, 2025, and determined that Icon cited the correct statute in its Offer of Settlement. (R. pp. 93). As a result, Icon's offer of settlement in the amount of \$127,750.00 was deemed valid, and the Arbitrator determined Icon to be the prevailing party entitled to attorney's fees and costs under the statute. (*Id.*)

Icon subsequently filed its Affidavits of Attorney's Fees. (R. pp. 110-14). Appellants then submitted a memorandum opposing Icon's Affidavits of Attorney's Fees and Costs to the Arbitrator, arguing that the fees sought were unjustifiable and excessive. (R. pp. 70-71). Specifically, Appellants asserted that the *Jackson* factors did not support the amount of attorney's fees Icon sought. (*Id.*) Icon thereafter provided a breakdown of legal work performed by its attorneys and support staff, and the Arbitrator ultimately awarded Icon \$64,736.50 in fees pursuant to his Final Award issued on February 28, 2025. (R. pp. 98-100). However, in the Final Order, the

Arbitrator never evaluated the *Jackson* factors in determining the amount of attorney's fees to award Icon. (*Id.*)

Per the Final Award, Icon was awarded a total of \$245,157.94, which included \$114,157.04 from the Interim Award, \$49,262.50 in interest, \$64,736.50 in attorney's fees, and \$17,001.90 in costs. (R. pp. 99-100). On March 12, 2025, Icon filed its Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award, seeking to make the Final Award a judgment. (R. pp. 60-66). Contrarily, on April 1, 2025, Appellants filed their Motion to Vacate, or in the Alternative, Modify or Correct Arbitration Award pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-130 and 15-48-140. (R. 67-114). Pursuant to their motion, Appellants argued the Arbitrator exceeded his powers, that there was an evident miscalculation of figures, and that the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law or committed a perverse misconstruction of the law. (*Id.*) In summary, the Appellants argued that the Arbitrator: (1) included amounts in the award for the mechanic's lien cause of action that were not lienable; (2) improperly determined Icon to be the prevailing party under the mechanic's lien statute; (3) improperly awarded Icon fees and costs under the mechanic's lien statute; (4) miscalculated the Interim Award; and (5) and awarded an excessive and unreasonable amount in attorney's fees. (*Id.*)

A hearing on Icon's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award and on Appellants' Motion to Vacate, or in the Alternative, Modify or Correct Arbitration Award was heard by the Honorable William C. McMaster, III on May 30, 2025, and he subsequently issued a formal Order on June 16, 2025, granting Icon's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award and denying Appellants' Motion to Vacate, or in the Alternative, Modify or Correct Arbitration Award. (R. pp. 8-18). This appeal followed, with the notice being served on Respondent on June 16, 2025.

ARGUMENTS

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The Uniform Arbitration Act provides statutory grounds for vacating, modifying, or correcting an arbitrator's award under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-130 and 15-48-140. Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130, concerning vacating an award, provides:

- (a) Upon application of a party, the court shall vacate an award where:
 - (1) The award was procured by corruption, fraud or other undue means;
 - (2) There was evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed as a neutral or corruption in any of the arbitrators or misconduct prejudicing the rights of any party;
 - (3) The arbitrators exceeded their powers;**
 - (4) The arbitrators refused to postpone the hearing upon sufficient cause being shown therefor or refused to hear evidence material to the controversy or otherwise so conducted the hearing, contrary to the provisions of Section 15-48-50, as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party; or
 - (5) There was no arbitration agreement and the issue was not adversely determined in proceedings under Section 15-48-20 and the party did not participate in the arbitration hearing without raising the objection.

(emphasis added). Additionally, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-140, concerning modification or correction of an award, provides:

- (a) Upon application made within ninety days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant, the court shall modify or correct the award where:
 - (1) There was an evident miscalculation of figures or an evident mistake in the description of any person, thing or property referred to in the award;**
 - (2) The arbitrators have awarded upon a matter not submitted to them and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the issues submitted; or

(3) The award is imperfect in a matter of form, not affecting the merits of the controversy.

(emphasis added).

Absent one of these grounds, an arbitration award may only be vacated or amended based on the non-statutory ground of “manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law by the arbitrator.” See *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 676 S.E.2d 320 (2009); *Weimer v. Jones*, 364 S.C. 78, 80, 610 S.E.2d 850, 852 (Ct. App. 2005); *Lauro v. Visnapuu*, 351 S.C. 507, 516, 570 S.E.2d 551, 556 (Ct. App. 2002). The term “disregard” “implies the arbitrator appreciates the existence of a clearly governing legal principle but decides to ignore or pay no attention to it.” *Lauro*, 351 S.C. 507, 570 S.E.2d 551 (Hearn, C.J. concurring). “[M]anifest disregard of the law occurs when the arbitrator knew of a governing legal principle yet refused to apply it, and the law disregarded was well defined, explicit, and clearly applicable to the case.” *Weimer*, 364 S.C. at 80, 610 S.E.2d at 852 (citing *Bazzle v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 244, 268, 569 S.E.2d 349, 361 (2002), *vacated and remanded on other grounds*, 539 U.S. 444, 123 S.Ct. 2402, 156 L.E.2d 414 (2003)). Courts have not hesitated in appropriate cases to vacate an arbitration award where there is a manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law. See *Trident Tech. Coll. v. Lucas & Stubbs, Ltd.*, 286 S.C. 98, 108–09, 333 S.E.2d 781, 787 (1985); *Harris v. Bennett*, 332 S.C. 238, 244, 503 S.E.2d 782, 786 (Ct. App. 1998); *Xu Dong Sun v. Wang*, No. 2013-000386, 2014 WL 2957105 (S.C. Ct. App. June 25, 2014).

In reviewing the denial of a motion to vacate, modify, or correct an arbitration award, the appellate court reviews it de novo. See *Crouch Const. Co. v. Causey*, 405 S.C. 155, 162–63, 747 S.E.2d 482, 486 (2013) (“The circuit court's adoption of a legal standard for evaluating claims of evident partiality under section 15–48–130 is a question of law which we review de novo.”) (citing

Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008) (“Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo.”)). Thus, in reviewing questions of law de novo, appellate courts “are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.” *Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State*, 372 SC. 519, 642 S.E.2d 751 (2007) (citing *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000)).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO VACATE THE ARBITRATION AWARD DESPITE THE ARBITRATOR’S MANIFEST DISREGARD OF THE LAW.

The Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law in multiple respects, and the circuit court erred by failing to recognize these errors and by declining to vacate the arbitration award. Specifically, the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by: (1) awarding amounts on Icon’s mechanic’s lien claim that were not lienable under South Carolina law, despite Appellants having raised this issue; (2) designating Icon as the prevailing party based on an incorrect application of the mechanic’s lien statute; and (3) failing to analyze, apply, or make any record of the *Jackson* factors when determining the award of attorney’s fees to Icon.

1. *The Arbitrator included amounts attributable to the mechanic’s lien cause of action that are not lienable under South Carolina law.*

The circuit court failed to recognize that the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law by awarding Icon amounts related to its mechanic’s lien claim that are not lienable under South Carolina law, despite Appellants having raised this issue and the Arbitrator having rejected it in its Order on Appellants’ Motion for Clarification and Modification. *See* (R. pp. 88-91). Specifically, South Carolina law requires material to actually be used and incorporated to the property to be lienable. *See Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 432 S.C. 267, 851 S.E.2d 724 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d as modified*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023) (analyzing “actual use”

requirement under the mechanic's lien statute and finding contractor failed to show materials were actually used in property owner's home) (quoting 22 S.C. Jur. Mechanics' Liens § 14 (2020) ("Any material supplied for improving real estate by the erection of a building or structure ordinarily gives rise to a mechanics' lien. Materials must, of course, be incorporated into the structure or become fixtures")); *Nat'l Loan & Exch. Bank of Columbia v. Argo Dev. Co.*, 141 S.C. 72, 139 S.E. 183, 186 (1927) ("The mere furnishing of such material with the intention that it should be used in the erection of houses on the property is not enough to meet the requirements of the mechanic's lien statute. There must also appear the use of the material in the erection or repair of some building or structure on the identical property against which the lien is claimed.").

However, without recognizing all binding authorities Appellants cite to which set forth established South Carolina law that requires actual use of the material delivered to be included in the mechanic's lien, the circuit court ultimately found the Arbitrator did not manifestly disregard the law, relying solely on the fact that Appellants' reliance on *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman* is apparently misplaced. (R. pp. 10). Specifically, the circuit court found that because "*Kitchen Planners* was modified by the Supreme Court to remove any discussion of an "actual use" requirement[,] . . . there is no bright-line 'actual use' requirement in the law that the Arbitrator could have disregarded." (*Id.*). Importantly, just because the Supreme Court removed the discussion of "actual use" does not mean that it is not the law in South Carolina. Specifically, South Carolina Mechanic's Lien statute still clearly states that it only provides a lien for "labor performed or furnished or for materials furnished and *actually used* in the erection, alteration, or repair of a building or structure." S.C. Code Ann § 29-5-10.

Importantly, the mechanic's lien statute must be strictly construed, and we are not at liberty to depart from the plain meaning of the mechanic's lien's statutory language. *See Clo-Car Trucking*

Co., Inc. v. Cliffure Estates of South Carolina, Inc., 282 S.C. 573, 320 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 1984); *Ferguson Fire & Fabrication, Inc. v. Preferred Fire Prot., L.L.C.*, 409 S.C. 331, 340, 762 S.E.2d 561, 565 (2014) (“Mechanic’s liens are purely statutory and may be acquired and enforced only in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the statutes creating them.”); *Greens of Rock Hill, LLC v. Rizon Com. Contracting, Inc.*, 411 S.C. 152, 156, 766 S.E.2d 876, 878 (Ct. App. 2014).

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