RECEIVED

Nov 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Court Case No. 2025-001203
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2023-CP-23-00189

Icon Custom Masonry, Inc.....Respondent,

v.

The Settlement, LLC, Levi Grantham, LLC, and
Atlantic Specialty Insurance CompanyDefendants

of which

The Settlement, LLC and Levi Grantham, LLC are theAppellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Bryan P. Kelley (SC Bar No. 76062)
H. Drennan Quattlebaum (SC Bar No. 106418)
Katherine Sieber Elmore (SC Bar No. 102826)
Elmore Goldsmith Kelley & deHoll, P.A.

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

ARGUMENT

Unable to accept the outcome of the binding arbitration they willingly agreed to, Appellants now turn to this Court in an effort to relitigate the merits under the guise of judicial review. The arbitration process was thorough, the award reasoned, and the result final. Rather than honor that result, Appellants invoke the narrow doctrine of “manifest disregard of the law,” not as it is actually defined under South Carolina law, but as a catch-all for disagreements with the arbitrator’s legal and factual conclusions. Appellants further attempt to cloak their dissatisfaction in claims of “evident miscalculation,” but their arguments reveal their own fundamental misunderstanding of the strict limitations on judicial review of arbitration awards. As our Supreme Court has recognized, “[a]rbitration is designed to be the end, not the beginning, of legal wrangling, and our strict manifest disregard standard for vacatur honors this design by ensuring the legal end is not a lawless one.” *Waldo*, 442 S.C. at 668–69, 901 S.E.2d at 279.

Stripped of its formalistic veneer, this appeal seeks only to substitute the Appellants’ own preferences for the considered judgment of the Arbitrator. There is no indication of manifest disregard of the law, no factual insufficiency, and no procedural infirmity that would justify judicial intervention. To the contrary, the Award reflects a deliberate and informed exercise of discretion, appropriately balancing statutory requirements with the practical realities of the Parties’ relationships and performance. Appellants’ insistence on recharacterizing settled findings and ignoring the deference owed to arbitration undermines the finality and integrity of the arbitral process yet offers no legitimate basis for relief. In essence, this appeal is not grounded in law, but in dissatisfaction. Dissatisfaction alone does not suffice to overturn a reasoned and lawful arbitral decision.

This appeal exemplifies precisely what South Carolina law seeks to prevent: an attempt to transform a binding arbitration into a preliminary skirmish before the courts. Arbitration is intended to bring finality, efficiency, and closure. It does not invite a second forum for an unsuccessful party to reargue its case. South Carolina law does not permit appellate-style review of an arbitrator's factual findings or legal conclusions, and Appellants' attempt to expand "manifest disregard" into a vehicle for ordinary error correction defies both precedent and principle. There is nothing extraordinary about this case, and nothing in the law or the facts that warrants disturbing the Arbitrator's reasoned and final award.

I. The Arbitrator neither manifestly disregarded South Carolina's mechanic's lien law nor did he misapply the statute in calculating damages or identifying the prevailing party, such that vacatur was required.

Appellants' request for vacatur or modification is unfounded. Each of their claims rest on a misinterpretation of the Arbitrator's authority, South Carolina's mechanic's lien statutes and the law governing judicial review of arbitral awards, as the following subsections demonstrate.

A. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(a)(3) is inapplicable to the arguments raised by Appellants.

As an initial matter, Appellants reliance on § 15-48-130(a)(3) to support their assertion that the Arbitrator "exceeded his powers" is both misplaced and legally unsupported, reflecting Appellants' fundamental misunderstanding of the narrow and deferential standard governing judicial review of an arbitral award.

An arbitrator exceeds their powers only when deciding issues not submitted for arbitration or outside the scope of the arbitration agreement. *See Harris v. Bennett*, 332 S.C. 238, 243, 503 S.E.2d 782, 785 (Ct. App. 1998) ("Our Supreme Court has clearly stated that arbitrators exceed their powers only if the issue resolved by them is not within the scope of the agreement to arbitrate."); *see also Pittman Mortg. Co. v. Edwards*, 327 S.C. 72, 76-77, 488 S.E.2d 335, 338

(1997) (“The question of whether arbitrators have exceeded their powers relates to the arbitrability of the issue they have attempted to resolve.... A party may not attempt to relitigate the merits of the arbitrators’ resolution of the arbitrable issues under the guise of questioning the arbitrators’ power.”).

Despite their framing, Appellants are not actually challenging the *arbitrability* of any claim—the only circumstance under which an arbitrator could be said to have “exceed their powers” under § 15-48-130(a)(3). Instead, they dispute the Arbitrator’s resolution of issues they expressly agreed to submit to arbitration. However, Parties may not mask disagreement with the outcome in the language of jurisdictional overreach. The Arbitrator was empowered to resolve claims for payment, determine prevailing party status, and award attorney’s fees—matters squarely within the scope of the Parties’ agreement. The suggestion that the Arbitrator somehow exceeded his authority by resolving those very issues is not a proper legal argument for review of an arbitral award; it is merely an attempt to recast merit-based objections as a question of power, in direct contravention of settled South Carolina law.

Nothing in the records shows the Arbitrator exceeded his jurisdiction or resolved issues outside the scope of the arbitration clause. Accordingly, the “exceeded their powers” argument fails at the threshold.²

Turning to Appellant’s remaining contentions regarding “manifest disregard” and “evident miscalculation of figures,” those arguments fare no better under the applicable legal standard.

² Appellants argue that the arbitrator exceeded his powers by applying equitable estoppel, but notably, they do not contend that issue before the arbitrator was non-arbitrable or outside the scope of the arbitration agreement. Instead, Appellants challenge *how* the arbitrator decided these issues, which constitute the merits or procedural objections rather than jurisdiction or arbitrability. Nonetheless, as addressed in *Infra* Section I, C., the Arbitrator properly raised and considered that issue.

B. Appellants’ “actual use” argument misconstrues the mechanic’s lien statute and does not demonstrate manifest disregard of the law.

Appellants’ argument regarding “manifest disregard” relies entirely on the faulty premise that South Carolina law imposes a bright-line requirement that materials *must* be “actually used” or physically incorporated into the property in order to be lienable under the mechanic’s lien statute. That is not, and has never been, the controlling standard. South Carolina courts have long recognized that mechanic’s liens arise inchoate at the time labor is performed or materials are furnished, and only later mature through proper filings. *See Preferred Sav. & Loan Ass’n, Inc. v. Royal Garden Resort, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 1, 3, 389 S.E.2d 853, 854 (1990) (citing *Williamson v. Hotel Melrose*, 110 S.C. 1, 96 S.E. 407 (1917)).

To require physical incorporation in every case as a bright-line rule would not only contradict this principle but would also invite manipulation by property owners seeking to avoid lien liability. Such a rule would create perverse incentives: a disgruntled owner could simply remove or discard materials delivered to the site, or strategically cancel a phase of work after delivery, then argue that the materials were never “used,” thereby avoiding payment.

In fact, our Supreme Court has expressly upheld mechanic’s liens based on materials purchased and furnished, even though they were never actually used on the property. *See e.g., Hodge v. First Federal Sav. and Loan Ass’n of Spartanburg*, 267 S.C. 270, 227 S.E.2d 310 (1976) (holding that a mechanic’s lien may be valid even if materials are not actually used or incorporated into the property, so long as they were furnished through an agent with the owner’s consent and intended for the improvement of the property). In *Hodge*, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed a mechanic’s lien award even though the materials in question were never actually delivered to or used in the construction of the property. There, the Court held that the statutory requirement under former § 45-259, that a lien must be filed within 90 days after

materials are “furnished,” was satisfied when materials were purchased in the ordinary course by a contractor acting as the owner’s agent, regardless of whether the materials were ultimately used at the job site. *Hodge* directly undermines the Appellant’s claim that “actual use” or incorporation is a strict requirement for liability under South Carolina law. More importantly, it undermines any notion that the Arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law.

Next, section 29-5-10(a) defines “labor performed or furnished” in the erection, alteration or repair of any building or structure upon any real estate to include: “the preparation of plans, specifications, and design drawings and the work of making the real estate suitable as a site for the building or structure.” S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(a). Permitting, engineering and related professional services clearly fall within this definition, as they constitute “labor performed or furnished” in the work of “making the real estate suitable as a site for the building or structure” for purposes of supporting the mechanic’s lien. *See Williamson*, 110 S.C. 1, 96 S.E. 407 (construction administrative services are type of labor for which a mechanic’s lien may be filed under the mechanic’s lien statute); *see also Spriggs Group, P.C. v. Slivka*, No. 2013-UP-497, 2013 WL 10343401 (Ct. App. Feb. 6, 2013) (same). In fact, engineers and architects often file mechanic’s liens, even though their contributions may be limited to providing plans, drawings or oversight, without ever lifting a shovel or swinging a hammer.

Appellants rely heavily on *Kitchen Planners I* to support their “actual use” argument. *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 432 S.C. 267, 851 S.E.2d 724 (Ct. App. 2020) (*Kitchen Planners I*), *aff’d as modified*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023) (*Kitchen Planners II*). In *Kitchen Planners I*, this Court noted Kitchen Planners’ assertion that the owner should be estopped from avoiding the lien but declined to consider this argument as it was raised for the first time on appeal. *Kitchen Planners I*, 432 S.C. at 282, 851 S.E.2d at 733. While the Court of

Appeals did not address the merits of estoppel, it did not reject the doctrine outright either. *Id.* Furthermore, in *Kitchen Planners II* the Supreme Court *removed the “actual use” discussion entirely*. This strongly demonstrates that the high court declined to adopt or endorse a bright-line “actual use” standard, particularly under circumstances involving both owner consent and good-faith delivery.

To agree with Appellants to deny lien rights under these facts would improperly shift the risk of loss on Icon, contrary to both commercial fairness and the protective intent behind the mechanic’s lien statute. Instead, the facts of each case must be applied to the law, which is precisely what the Arbitrator did here:

All of Icon’s work was performed with the understanding that Icon was to install five monuments. Therefore, all of these labors and materials were provided for the improvement of the owner’s property including the materials left on site to construct the fifth monument. Since Levi later decided to not install the fifth monument, ***the estoppel doctrine prohibits Levi from arguing that the materials for the fifth monument were not provided for the improvement of its property.***

(Defs.’s Mot. to Vacate, Modify or Correct, Ex. B (Order on Motion for Clarification/Modification), R. at ___) (emphasis added).

This is akin to a dispute over when a statute of limitations begins to run. The three-year limitations period for most causes of action is black-letter law in South Carolina. If an arbitrator were to ignore that and say: “I know the statute of limitations is three-years under South Carolina law, but I am going to apply a five-year limitations period instead,” that would certainly be a manifest disregard of the law—a blatant refusal to apply controlling legal authority. But suppose the facts are changed in that a suit was filed January 1, 2025. One party argues that the statute began to run before January 1, 2022. The other side argues that it ran after January 1, 2022. The arbitrator (as fact finder) may examine testimony, documents, and competing inferences to

determine just *when* the limitations clock began, say January 2, 2022, instead of December 31, 2021.

The arbitrator in this case carefully evaluated the facts, contract documents, testimony of witnesses, and arguments to reach conclusions within the bounds of the law. Here, the Arbitrator was well aware of the “actual use” requirement set out in § 29-5-10, but reasonably concluded, based on the unique factual circumstances, that inclusion of certain items in Icon’s lien was justified: (i) the fifth column and related materials were clearly delivered with intent to incorporate into the improvement; (ii) The Settlement consented to the materials and benefited from the permitting and engineering services; and (iii) Levi Grantham and The Settlement later prevented completion of the column and rejected work after performance by Icon had commenced. (Defs.’s Mot. to Vacate, Modify or Correct, Ex. B (Order on Motion for Clarification/Modification), Ex. C (Order on Prevailing Party), R. at ____). The Arbitrator found The Settlement and Levi Grantham to be equitably estopped from contesting inclusion of those amounts—a theory rooted in fairness and supported by the evidence. (*Id.*, Ex. B (Order on Motion for Clarification/Modification), R. at ____). The Arbitrator was entitled to apply equitable doctrines based on the full record before him.

The Arbitrator’s conclusions may certainly be subject to disagreement; a court might even have reached a different result. Nonetheless, that it is not the standard of review. As in *Trident*, Appellants distort the meaning of the “manifest disregard” standard:

Appellant asserts that the courts have not hesitated in appropriate cases to vacate an arbitration award where there is a manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law. While this is certainly true, *those cases have been exceedingly rare, requiring circumstances far more egregious than mere errors in interpreting or applying the law.* Indeed, the cases relied upon by appellant all contain the explicit caveat that the nonstatutory ground of ‘manifest disregard’ of the law as a basis for vacating arbitration awards ... presuppose[s] something beyond and different from a mere error of law or failure on the part of the

arbitrators to understand or apply the law. Even assuming *arguendo* that the arbitrators did erroneously apply the law in the various particulars alleged by appellant, these legal errors would be insufficient to constitute manifest disregard of the law under the pertinent cases.

Trident Technical College, 286 S.C. at 108-09, 333 S.E.2d at 787 (internal citations and quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

This case is precisely the kind of fact-intensive discretionary judgment that arbitration is designed to resolve, and courts are not permitted to second-guess such determinations simply because one side believes the Arbitrator should have seen things differently, even if the reviewing court itself may have reached a different conclusion. A legal error is not a basis for vacatur unless it is clearly intentional and meets the strict test of manifest disregard.

Accordingly, Appellants' argument that the arbitrator included amounts not lienable under South Carolina mechanic's lien statute amounts to nothing more than dissatisfaction with the outcome, not evidence of a willful or knowing disregard of the law. This falls well short of the "manifest disregard" standard, which demands more than legal error; it demands legal defiance. Neither the record nor the law supports such a finding here.

The Arbitrator applied the law thoughtfully, grounded his conclusions in the evidence, and acted well within the bounds of his authority. To overturn such a reasoned decision under the guise of "manifest disregard" would not preserve justice but subvert the very finality and deference that arbitration is designed to ensure.

C. The Arbitrator acted within his broad authority under the AAA Rules and the Parties' agreement in finding that Appellants were estopped from contesting the lien amount.

Next, it is undisputed that this case was submitted to arbitration in accordance with the American Arbitration Association (AAA), Construction Industry Rules & Mediation Procedures

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